Filed 07-26-2024

Page 1 of 34

FILED 07-26-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2024AP000008-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANNY THOMAS MCCLAIN, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Jack L. Davila, Presiding.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

DOUGLAS C. MCINTOSH Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1113138

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street-Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 mcintoshd@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

INTRODUCTION

When he pulled over Mr. McClain and his admittedly intoxicated girlfriend, Officer Adam Rogge had a hunch that McClain was intoxicated, too. But a hunch is not enough to justify the cascade of Fourth Amendment violations that followed. What began as a routine traffic stop for a defective taillight and swerving within the lane spiraled into a 41-minute ordeal, during which McClain's constitutional rights were repeatedly trampled. Despite the absence of reasonable suspicion, Rogge extended the stop to pursue investigations for domestic violence and operating while intoxicated. More, possessed with the belief there were open intoxicants and other contraband in the vehicle, Rogge conducted unlawful searches of McClain's person and vehicle, expeditions that produced no incriminating evidence. Undeterred, Rogge pressed on, administering field sobriety tests without the requisite reasonable suspicion.

This case strikes at the heart of the Fourth Amendment's protections against unreasonable searches and seizures. It asks whether enforcement can transform a simple traffic stop into a prolonged detention based on no more than instinct and speculation. This Court should reaffirm that in Wisconsin, as elsewhere, police officers must respect constitutional boundaries. even when—indeed. especially when—they have a hunch.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Was there reasonable suspicion to extend the traffic stop to conduct domestic violence and OWI investigations?

The circuit court answered yes.

2. Were the searches of McClain and his vehicle illegal, and did they impermissibly extend the traffic stop?

The circuit court concluded that the searches were illegal, but did not consider them to be unlawful extensions of the stop.

3. Was there reasonable suspicion to administer field sobriety tests?

The circuit court answered yes.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested, as the briefs can adequately set forth the arguments. This case does not qualify for publication because it is a misdemeanor appeal. See Wis. Stat. §§ 809.23(1)(b)4 & 751.31(2)(f).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 27, 2019, the State charged McClain with two counts: (1) operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated, as a second offense, contrary to Wis. Stat.

§§ 346.63(1)(a) & 346.65(2)(am)2; and (2) operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration, as a second offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 346.63(1)(b) & 346.65(2)(am)2. (1:1-2).

McClain moved to suppress evidence on October 5, 2020. (28). A hearing on the motion was held June 2, 2021. (39). (App. 5-52). The officer who stopped McClain was the sole witness. (39:2). (App. 6). Squad camera video was introduced as Exhibit 1. (39:17; 96). (App. 21). Nine months later, on March 4, 2022, McClain filed a supplemental motion to suppress following the evidentiary hearing. (40). The motion argued that officers impermissibly extended the traffic stop beyond the initial justification and lacked the requisite evidence of impairment to order McClain out of the car and to perform field sobriety tests. McClain also argued that the officer lacked reasonable suspicion to perform a *Terry* frisk and lacked probable cause to search the vehicle.¹

In an oral ruling on June 21, 2022, the court denied the motion to suppress.² (79:20-26). (App. 72-78). McClain subsequently pled guilty to OWI-Second Offense pursuant to a plea agreement with the State.

¹ McClain also argued that the initial stop was unlawful. That argument is not renewed in this court.

² The court ruled that both the *Terry* frisk and vehicle search were unlawful, suppressing a medication tablet found during the frisk. (79:25-26). (App. 77-78). But it denied the portion of McClain's motion seeking suppression of the test results obtained through the OWI investigation. (79:26). (App. 78).

(87:5). He was sentenced on September 15, 2022 to 5 days in jail for a time served disposition. (87:19). (App. 3-4).

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. Traffic Stop and Arrest (41 Minutes)

A. Initial Stop and Approach (3 Minutes)

Around 2:44 AM on February 20, 2019, Officer Adam Rogge of the Franklin Police Department conducted a traffic stop of a red Dodge Dakota driven by McClain. (39:5-6). (App. 9-10). The basis for the stop was a defective taillight and swerving within the lane of travel. (39:7). (App. 11).

Upon approach, Rogge detected a light odor of alcohol emanating from the vehicle and observed that McClain had bloodshot eyes. (39:8-9). (App. 12-13). When asked to account for the driving behavior, McClain explained that his girlfriend tried to grab his cell phone during an argument, causing him to swerve. (39:8). (App. 12). His girlfriend was upset because McClain had texted an ex. (39:10). (App. 14). Both emphatically denied there had been any physical altercation. (2:45:23 AM). Rogge requested

10

³ Timestamps correspond to the squad footage introduced as Exhibit 1 at the suppression hearing. A DVD of the footage was transmitted to this Court on January 19, 2024. (96).

identification from both occupants and inquired about their relationship and living situation. (2:45:49).

Rogge also asked McClain if he had consumed any alcohol; McClain said that he had not. (2:46:10 AM). Rogge also inquired about potential medical issues or the presence of weapons, both of which McClain denied. (2:46:18 AM).

B. Request for Backup and Initial Investigation (6.5 Minutes)

Rogge returned to his vehicle to request backup. In his call, he stated, "I have a male and female arguing in the vehicle and I'm trying to figure out what is going on." (39:23; 2:46:34 AM). (App. 27). Rogge did not mention a potential OWI investigation at this point.

During this period, Rogge ran checks on the vehicle's plates and the occupants' identification. Rogge ran McClain's license, which revealed a prior OWI. (39:10; 2:50:45 AM). (App. 14).

C. Separate Questioning of Occupants (7 Minutes)

Rogge instructed McClain's girlfriend to get out of the truck to speak with his partner. (39:10-11; 2:52:57 AM). (App. 14-15). Rogge later testified that this was done to separate the parties and confirm that nothing physical took place. (39:10-11). (App. 14-15).

After McClain was alone in the truck, Rogge continued to speak with him. (2:53:30). The light odor of alcohol emanating from the vehicle persisted. (2:54:00). McClain continued to deny drinking when Rogge asked. (2:54:05). McClain answered Rogge's questions about why the car had been swerving. (2:54:50). Rogge asked McClain if there was anything else in the vehicle he should be aware of such as open intoxicants; McClain said no. (2:54:15 AM, 2:55:35 AM).

The passenger admitted to drinking at work, stating she was "already three doubles in" when McClain picked her up. (2:56:59 AM). She corroborated McClain's account of the phone-grabbing incident and the resulting swerving. (2:57:09 AM). When asked about McClain's drinking, she stated, "Not with me he hasn't" and clarified that while he normally drinks, he hadn't since she'd been with him since 10:00 PM. (2:58:00 AM). Rogge then allowed her to sit in his partner's car to keep warm (2:59:20 AM). There was no further discussion about potential domestic violence.

D. Continued Investigation and Searches (14 Minutes)

At 3:00:19 AM, nearly 17 minutes into the stop, Rogge pressed McClain again about open intoxicants in the vehicle and whether he had been drinking. (3:00:19 AM; 3:00:24 AM). Despite McClain's continued denials, Rogge stated, "OK well I'm going to

make sure it's safe for you to continue on." (3:00:27 AM).

Rogge then misleadingly claimed to McClain, "She's denying that she grabbed the phone," contradicting the passenger's earlier corroboration. (3:00:34 AM). Rogge's attention then focused on a white container in the vehicle, and he repeatedly asked about its contents and asking whether it contained alcohol. (3:00:55 AM; 3:01:06 AM). When McClain expressed uncertainty about the container's contents, Rogge asserted, "It's in your vehicle, you're responsible for it," despite McClain explaining it belonged to his passenger. (3:01:17 AM).

At 3:01 AM, Rogge instructed McClain to exit the vehicle "to make sure it's safe for you to continue on." (3:01:31 AM). Rogge searched McClain, finding a Suboxone tablet. (3:02:09 AM - 3:02:50 AM). Rogge questioned McClain about his prescription status and medical history, asking, "Do you have a heroin issue, a prescription drug issue?" (3:03:00 AM; 3:03:10 AM).

McClain explained he was a former professional wrestler and had taken painkillers (3:03:11 AM). Rogge asked whether McClain could prove he had a prescription for the Suboxone. (3:03:17). McClain replied he had paperwork at his house or they could call a pharmacy. (3:03:20 AM).

At 3:03 AM, Rogge asked, "Do you have an issue with me verifying there's nothing else in the vehicle?" McClain said he had no issue. (3:03:44 AM). Rogge then informed his partner that McClain had Suboxone

without proof of a prescription and that they needed to verify the prescription. (3:03:55 AM).

Rogge searched the vehicle. (3:05:00 AM – 3:09:37). During this search, he found no evidence of open intoxicants or other illegal items. After the search, Rogge continued to question McClain about his medication use and repeatedly asked about alcohol in the passenger's water bottle. (3:11:09 AM – 3:14:00 AM).

E. Field Sobriety Tests and Arrest (10.5 Minutes)

At 3:14:00 AM, around 30 minutes into the stop, Rogge announced his intention to conduct sobriety tests, stating, "I'm going to do some tests to make sure you're safe to drive home while they're trying to verify the prescription." (3:13:58 AM).

Shortly after, at 3:14:34 AM, McClain admitted to consuming "two vodka cranberry drinks." (3:14:45 AM; 39:13-14). Rogge, beginning with preliminary tests used by the Franklin Police Department, asked McClain to recite the alphabet and the months of the year. McClain completed both tasks correctly. (3:15:30 AM; 3:15:59 AM; 39:13). (App. 17). Rogge then administered standard field sobriety tests. (3:16:24 AM).

Following the field sobriety tests, Rogge administered a preliminary breath test. The PBT was 0.12. (3:24:37 AM).

Rogge arrested McClain at approximately 3:24 AM, over 41 minutes after the initial stop. (3:24:34 AM).

II. Suppression Litigation

McClain moved to suppress on October 5, 2020. (28). At the motion hearing, Rogge testified that the physical signs he looks for to indicate intoxication include odor, bloodshot and glassy eyes, slurred or thick speech, and a slow, sluggish demeanor. (39:5). (App. 9). When he made contact with McClain, he "observed a light odor of alcohol emanating from the vehicle" and that McClain's eyes were bloodshot. (39:9). (App. 13). McClain explained that the swerving within the lane of travel was caused by his girlfriend reaching for his cellphone during an argument (39:8-9). (App. 12-13). Regarding the incident, "[b]oth parties confirmed that it was a verbal argument. Apparently the defendant had been texting his exgirlfriend. The passenger found out about that, and she admitted to grabbing the phone." (39:10). (App. 14). During the stop, "she appeared upset" and was "cursing on the side and all of that." (39:22). (App. 26).

As to his decision to separate McClain from his passenger, Rogge stated that he did so to "confirm that nothing physical took place, that there wasn't anything more going on. . . ." (39:10-11). (App. 14-15). He also separated them to help isolate the source of the alcohol odor. (39:11). (App. 15). Rogge testified that after McClain was alone in the vehicle, the odor of alcohol did not dissipate. (39:12). (App. 16).

On cross-examination, Rogge confirmed that he did not report observing McClain having glassy eyes, slurred speech, or a sluggish demeanor. (39:22-23). (App. 26-27). Nor did he report or observe any physical injuries. (39:23-24). (App. 27-28). He agreed that two people having an argument in a car is illegal only if it is "facetious [sic] disorderly conduct" and that there would be no crime if two people "didn't get physical" and did not require further assistance. (39:24). (App. 28).

During the stop, Rogge told McClain some variation of "I need to make sure it is safe for you to continue on" several times. Rogge admitted that when he said this to McClain while he was still in the vehicle, Rogge had not detected the odor of alcohol coming from McClain (only the vehicle generally) and that there had been no weaving outside the lane. (39:28). (App. 32). He also confirmed that despite this, he did not allow McClain to leave. (39:28). (App. 32).

Rogge then went to question McClain's girlfriend. (39:28-29). (App. 32-33). Rogge confirmed that she corroborated McClain's account that he had picked her up from a bar, had been drinking heavily, and admitted to yelling and trying to grab the phone. (39:30). (App. 34). She also explained that she had a bottle of water in the car. (39:30). (App. 34).

Rogge returned to McClain's vehicle, this time on the passenger side, approaching from a "different angle, to see if [he saw] anything." (39:32). (App. 36). He "had suspicions that they [were] carrying

contraband, something, or opened intoxicants." (39:33). (App. 37). He did not ask McClain for consent to open the door to further investigate items on the floorboard. (39:34, 36). (App. 38, 40). When asked whether he had probable cause to search the vehicle without a warrant, Rogge replied, "Basically, I searched the vehicle until he gave me consent." (39:36). (App. 40).

After McClain told Rogge that he didn't know for sure what was in the bottle because it was his girlfriend's, Rogge ordered him out of the vehicle, intending to administer field sobriety tests. (39:26). (App. 40). He testified that he did so because he wanted to make sure it was safe for him to leave. (39:36). (App. 40). At this point, Rogge admitted he had not smelled alcohol coming from McClain specifically, and that McClain had denied consuming alcohol. (39:37). (App. 41).

Before administering the fields, Rogge asked McClain to "step over so I [could] determine if it's safe for him [sic]" and searched him, finding a Suboxone tablet. (39:38). (App. 42). His partner attempted to verify the prescription. (39:39). (App. 43). "[W]e did our due diligence, that's why it took so long." (39:39). (App. 43). At the same time, Rogge conducted the expanded search of the vehicle, which McClain consented to.

⁴ Rogge first reported that he smelled alcohol on McClain when he was administering the alphabet test, a half-hour into the stop (39:25). (App. 29). Although in the squad footage, Rogge told McClain he could smell it before administering the test. (3:14:22).

(39:39). (App. 43). His search turned up no open intoxicants or anything else of evidentiary value. (39:40). (App. 44).

After the search yielded nothing, Rogge testified that he did not let McClain and his girlfriend leave because "I was administering a field sobriety test and we were still confirming [the prescription] I believe." (39:40). (App. 44). He admitted that he told McClain that he "had to make sure it was safe for him to leave," but conceded that, not knowing he was intoxicated, he could have let them leave. (39:40). (App. 44). Defense counsel pressed on this point, summarizing that at the time Rogge had decided to administer fields and told McClain that he "had to make sure it was safe for him to leave," the facts known to him were that: a corroborated account explaining the swerving within the lane of travel and the light odor of alcohol emanating from the vehicle, no sign of physical abuse, no admission to drinking, and red eyes. (39:42-43). Rogge agreed that under those (App. 46-47). circumstances, he could have let McClain leave. Nonetheless. "T (App. 47). instructed (39:43). [McClain] that I needed to perform the test before I could release him from the scene." (39:43). (App. 47).

The court found the initial stop lawful based on the defective taillight. (72:21). (App. 73). The court also determined there was reasonable suspicion to extend the initial stop and continue with an OWI investigation and field sobriety tests, citing circumstances such as the odor of intoxicants, bloodshot eyes, time of night, and McClain's admission to drinking after initially denying it. (72:21-22). (App. 73-74).

The court also concluded the extension of the stop to investigate domestic violence was not "a problem in this case." (72:23). (App. 75). The court noted:

[F]or 40-ish years we've had a number of statutes put into law that really more or less, you know, they don't strictly require an investigation, but really put the onus on law enforcement to fully investigate DV-type situations.

There has been a thought for many decades that a lot of officers kind of blew these things off, you know, it was just domestic trouble, family trouble, but there was a passage of a lot of legislation that require officers to take certain actions, and then—again that then required them to certainly strongly suggest that they take care and caution and prudence with these situations.

(72:23). (App. 75).

The court emphasized that a cursory investigation would have been inappropriate, stating, "spending about 30 seconds on this matter would have been probably met with a lot of raised eyebrows, probably some frowns from his superiors." (72:23-24). (App. 75-76).

But the court took issue with Rogge's "poor search practice," suppressing the evidence obtained from the two searches conducted during the stop. (72:26). (App. 78). The frisk was ruled unlawful.

(72:25). (App. 77). The court stated, "You can't do a patdown without some reasonable belief that Mr. McClain was... armed at the time. There is absolutely nothing in the record that supports that. You can't just start patting people down." (72:25). (App. 77). As a result, the Suboxone pill discovered during this search was suppressed. (72:25). (App. 77).

The vehicle search was also found to be unlawful. (72:26). (App. 78). The court noted:

[T]here may have been consent given halfway through the search; but, you know, you can't search a car the way that was described on the record here. And then, you know, halfway through there was a pause; but then coming back and asking if it was okay to search after you kind of already conducted a little flashlight search there, opening some doors, one of the reasons that motions get heard and decided by courts is we try and discourage poor search practice, and that's exactly what's going to happen here because that search is out as well.

(72:25-26). (App. 77-78).

Ultimately, however, "despite some of the odd circumstances that led to the delay here," the court denied McClain's motion to suppress the results of the field sobriety and preliminary breath tests. (72:24-25). (App. 76-77).

ARGUMENT

The traffic stop here was unlawfully extended three times. During the 41-minute stop, Officer Rogge (1) investigated a supposed domestic violence incident; (2) illegally searched McClain and his vehicle; and (3) administered field sobriety tests. None of these extensions was supported by independent reasonable suspicion of criminal activity.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect against unreasonable searches and seizures. *State v. Eason*, 2001 WI 98, ¶16, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 629 N.W.2d 625. These constitutional provisions safeguard the privacy and security of individuals against arbitrary invasions by government officials. *State v. Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81, ¶13, 327 Wis. 2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592.

A traffic stop, even if brief and for a limited purpose, constitutes a seizure of the vehicle's occupants and must be supported by reasonable suspicion. *Delaware v. Prouse*, 440 U.S. 648, 653-54 (1979). Reasonable suspicion requires that an officer, in view of the totality of the circumstances, have a particularized and objective basis for suspecting that a person has committed or is about to commit a crime. *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶13, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634.

Moreover, a stop "exceeding the time needed to handle the matter for which the stop was made violates the Constitution's shield against unreasonable seizures." *Rodriguez v. United States*, 575 U.S. 348, 350 (2015). An officer may not extend a traffic stop beyond its original purpose unless the extension is supported by reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. *State v. Hogan*, 2015 WI 76, ¶35, 364 Wis. 2d 167, 868 N.W.2d 124.

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