Brief of Respondent

Filed 08-26-2024

Page 1 of 19

FILED 08-26-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No. 2024AP000008-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

DANNY THOMAS MCCLAIN JR,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE CHRISTOPHER T. DEE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

John Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

Kevin Clancy Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1122094 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

District Attorney's Office 821 West State Street, Room 405 Milwaukee, WI 53233-1485 (414) 278-4646

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

ARGUMENT

Law enforcement officers are allowed to seize individuals for an investigative stop when they have reasonable suspicion

-

³ The supplemental motion contained new arguments that were not originally briefed in the original motion. Neither new evidence nor additional testimony was presented subsequent to the filing of the supplemental motion.

that criminal activity is afoot. This principle of law was established in *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 22, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed. 2d 889 (1968), where the United States Supreme Court held that investigative stops are governed by an objective test: "would the facts available to the officer at the moment of the seizure . . . 'warrant a man of reasonable caution in the belief' that the action taken was appropriate." The Wisconsin Supreme Court has adopted this standard from *Terry* consistently since it was first decided. *See State v Chambers*, 55 Wis. 2d 298, 294, 198 N.W.2d 377 (1972); *State v. Jackson*, 147 Wis. 2d 824, 829-830, 434 N.W.2d 386, 389, (1989); *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 55, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996).

In Rodriguez v. United States, 575 U.S. 348, 354, 135 S.Ct. 1609, 191 L.Ed. 2d 492 (2015), the U.S. Supreme Court likened traffic stops to *Terry* stops due to their lower level of invasion and relatively quick resolutions. This lower-level threshold was tempered by the requirement that traffic stops actually be short; specifically, a stop must be completed in the time reasonably necessary to complete the mission of the stop. See Rodriguez 575 U.S. at 354. However, an officer is not locked into the original mission of a stop. Should new evidence come to light that supports reasonable suspicion for a new criminal offense, officers can extend a stop to investigate the new leads. See id. at 355; Illinois v. Caballes, 543 U.S. 405, 409, 125 S.Ct. 834, 160 L.Ed.2d 842 (2005); State v. Floyd, 2017 WI 78 ¶¶ 22-23, 377 Wis. 2d 394, 898 N.W.2d 560; State v. Wright, 2019 WI 45 ¶29, 386 Wis. 2d 495, 926 N.W.2d 157.

I. The Trial Court Properly Found that there was Reasonable Suspicion of a Domestic Violence Incident to Justify Extending the Traffic Stop.

Law enforcement officers in Wisconsin are required to thoroughly investigate potential Domestic Violence cases. Judge Dee alluded to this fact during the decision hearing. (R. 71:22-24). Judge Dee stated: "... I will note that for 40-ish years we've had a number of statutes put into law that really more or less, you know, they don't strictly require an investigation, but really put an onus on law enforcement to fully investigate DV-type situations." (R. 71:23). Judge Dee was referring to Wis. Stat. § 968.075, which is entitled Domestic Abuse Incidents; Arrest and Prosecution. Wisconsin Statute § 968.075(2)(a)(2)

mandates that a police officer "shall" arrest an individual when there is probable cause to believe they have committed an act of domestic abuse that constitutes a crime and any of three other factors are present.⁴ Wis. Stat. § 968.075 provides officers with significant guidance on how domestic violence cases should be investigated. For example, after police investigate the nature of the relationship as well as the actions of each party, Wis. Stat. § 968.075(2) (ar) provides a list of directives to guide police officers in determining which party is the predominant aggressor during a domestic abuse investigation:

> In order to protect victims from continuing domestic abuse, a law enforcement officer shall consider all of the following information in identifying the predominant aggressor:

- The History of domestic abuse between the parties, if it can be reasonably ascertained by the officer, and any information provided by witnesses regarding that history.
- Statements made by witnesses.
- The relative degree of injury inflicted on the parties.
- The extent to which each person present appears to fear any party.
- Whether any party is threatening or has threatened future harm against another party or another family or household member.
- Whether either party acted in selfdefense or in defense of any other person under the circumstances described in s. 939.48.

Wis. Stat. § 968.075(2)(ar)(italicized emphasis added).

Colloquially known to domestic abuse professionals as Wisconsin's "mandatory arrest" statute, law enforcement officers are expected to treat potential instances of domestic abuse with the utmost care. The Wisconsin Legislature added requirements applicable to law enforcement agencies when it adopted Wis. Stat. § 968.075(3), requiring law enforcement agencies to implement policies and procedures on how best to

⁴ The three factors are: (1) there is a reasonable basis to believe that continued domestic abuse against the victim is likely, (2) There is evidence of physical injury to the alleged victim, or (3) the person is the predominant aggressor.

investigate domestic abuse cases in line with the entire statutory Recognizing the responsibilities placed upon law enforcement officers in situations involving potential abuse in intimate partner/family violence circumstances, Judge Dee acknowledged that a paltry amount of time investigating the argument between Danny McClain and April Louge would have been inappropriate: "So I have to say spending about 30 seconds on this matter would have been probably met with a lot of raised eyebrows, probably some from his superiors, so I really don't think that that's a problem in this case." (R. 71:23-24). Again, Judge Dee alludes to his awareness of the strict burden that Wis. Stat. § 968.075 places upon law enforcement officers. In actuality, the statute opens officers up to potentially very serious consequences if they fail to properly investigate domestic abuse incidents. Law enforcement officers are susceptible to liability if they do not follow Wis. Stat. § 968.075 in good faith. See Wis. Stat. § 968.075(6m).

Wisconsin Statute § 968.075 was implicated in this case. When Officer Rogge first made contact with Danny McClain and April Louge, he was presented with a potential domestic abuse incident once they began to explain what happened. It is undisputed that Danny McClain and April Louge were in a romantic relationship, identifying one another as boyfriend and girlfriend. (R. 39:9-10; R. 71:22). Danny McClain told Officer Rogge that the swerving was due to April Louge reaching for his phone during an argument. Upon learning that an intimate relationship was involved, Officer Rogge was bound both by statute and Franklin Police Department Standard Operating Procedures, to thoroughly investigate the matter.⁵ The Franklin Police Domestic Violence procedure is attached in the Supplemental Appendix . This Court will note that the Franklin Police Department Standard Operating Procedure closely adheres to Wis. Stat. § 968.075.

Officer Rogge observed several pieces of concerning behavior that warranted further investigation. First, he observed the swerving of the vehicle which Danny McClain and April Louge attributed to a fight that involved yelling. Second, the

⁵ A copy of the Franklin Police Department Standard Operating Procedure for Domestic Violence has been obtained by Petitioner-Respondent from the Franklin Police Department and included in the Petitioner-Respondent's Supplemental Appendix.

fight, which would ultimately prove to be predominantly a verbal argument, included physical contact in the form of April Louge grabbing Danny McClain's arm. Officer Rogge also noted that he observed that April Louge was visibly upset and crying (Squad video footage: 2:52:21AM - 2:52:33AM). While April Louge and Danny McClain denied being spouses, cohabitants or having a child in common, it was reasonable for Officer Rogge to continue investigating. Had the investigation legitimately pointed towards a probable cause for abuse or violence—even outside the bounds of the statutory definition of "domestic"—there is nothing preventing the Franklin Police Department from exercising its discretion to arrest the predominant aggressor.

Separating and speaking with each party alone gave Officer Rogge the opportunity to look at the required considerations: getting witness statements, seeing if either party is scared of the other, learning about prior incidents, etcetera. The fact that this incident was a false alarm should not make the additional time investigating unreasonable. Officer Rogge was able to investigate and confirm that there was no predominant aggressor to arrest, and no victim that needed protecting. Had he not taken these steps, he could have opened himself up to liability if that was not the case.

The record amply supports that police had legitimate and reasonable concerns that Danny McClain and April Louge may have been in the midst of a domestic abuse incident. Officer Rogge acted reasonably and in line with Wis. Stat. § 968.075 by spending adequate time to thoroughly investigate the situation.

II. The Trial Court Properly Found That There Was Reasonable Suspicion for an OWI Incident to Justify Extending the Traffic Stop.

Wisconsin Courts have considered a wide variety of factors that support reasonable suspicion and probable cause to believe someone is operating while intoxicated. Probable cause may be established through a showing of erratic driving and the subsequent "stumbling" of the driver after getting out of the motor vehicle. *See State v. Welsh*, 108 Wis. 2d 319, 333–35, 321 N.W.2d 245 (1982). Probable cause may be demonstrated by bloodshot eyes, an odor of intoxicants, and slurred speech,

together with a motor vehicle accident or erratic driving. See State v. Wille, 185 Wis. 2d 673, 683, 518 N.W.2d 325 (Ct. App. Probable cause may be established by an officer's observation of erratic driving as well as physical indications of intoxication. See State v. Babbitt, 188 Wis. 2d 349, 357, 525 N.W.2d 102 (Ct. App. 1994). A single-vehicle accident, odor of intoxicants, and slurred speech are sufficient to establish probable cause. See State v. Kasian, 207 Wis. 2d 611, 622, 558 N.W.2d 687 (Ct. App. 1996). Even though the Probable Cause standard is significantly lower than the standard of Beyond a Reasonable Doubt, it is still higher than the Reasonable Suspicion standard that governs traffic stops. See State v. Secrist, 224 Wis. 2d 201, 212, 589 N.W.2d 387 (1999). In determining Reasonable Suspicion, the courts have considered: (1) an officer's training and experience, (2) prior OWI convictions, (3) a .02 BAC restriction, (4) the odor of intoxicants inside a vehicle, (5) an admission to consuming alcohol, and (6) excessive speeding. State v. Adell, 2021 WI App, 72 ¶19, 399 Wis. 2d 399, 966 N.W.2d 115.

In addition to the investigation of a potential domestic violence incident, Officer Rogge had reason to suspect that Danny McClain was driving while intoxicated. McClain argued in the trial court (and argues again on appeal) that the only factors supporting suspicion of an OWI that were known to Officer Rogge was the odor of alcohol coming from the vehicle, McClain's bloodshot eyes, and McClain's swerving within the lane of traffic.

However, there was an additional factor available to Officer Rogge, a factor that Judge Dee considered in his decision. After Officer Rogge spoke with McClain, he was able to confirm that McClain had a prior conviction for an OWI offense. (R. 39:10; R. 71:22). The reasonable suspicion determination looks at the totality of the circumstances available to an officer. *Jackson*, 147 Wis. 2d at 833-843; *State v. Richey*, 2022 WI 106, ¶9, 405 Wis. 2d 132, 938 N.W.2d 617. All four factors together warrant a reasonable officer in Officer Rogge's position to investigate further.

Officer Rogge's following actions remained reasonable to investigate the new suspicion that Danny McClain was operating while intoxicated. Officer Rogge was forthcoming

Case 2024AP000008 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-26-2024 Page 14 of 19

with the fact that the odor of alcohol was coming from the vehicle (which had two occupants) as opposed to just coming directly from McClain. Office Rogge separated McClain and Louge as part of the domestic abuse investigation, which then provided an opportunity for the odor to dissipate had Louge been the only source. However, Officer Rogge testified that the odor did not dissipate. The odor continued to follow Danny McClain through the rest of the stop. (R. 39:11, 19). This factor further bolsters the weight of Officer Rogge's suspicion.

Officers are not required to accept innocent explanations as the only possibility. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has consistently held that "police officers are not required to rule out the possibility of innocent behavior before initiating a brief stop." State v. Anderson, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 84, 454 N.W.2d 763 (Anderson II); See Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d at 59. In State v. Anderson, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 84, 454 N.W.2d 763, the Wisconsin Supreme Court reasoned that flight from a police officer may have innocent explanations, and police officers do not have to ignore the inference that something criminal might be afoot.

In the present case, McClain offered the innocent explanation that his swerving was caused due to the verbal argument. (R. 39:10; R. 71:22). While this explanation may have been valid, Officer Rogge was not required to accept it as the only explanation. Officer Rogge testified to two other inferences he thought could have been the cause. "Based on time of day, in my prior experience, [swerving in a lane is] consistent with either a medical emergency, or impairment." (R. 39:7). By itself, swerving in the lane is not enough to support reasonable suspicion of an OWI. However looking at the totality of the circumstances, the odor of alcohol, the bloodshot eyes, and Danny McClain's prior OWI, Officer Rogge was reasonable in considering the swerving as potential evidence of drunk driving.

In sum, there were several factors known to Officer Rogge that could lead any reasonable officer to suspect that McClain was operating while intoxicated. Officer Rogge properly extended the stop to further that investigation.

III. The Searches of McClain's Person and Vehicle Did Not Impermissibly Extend the Traffic Stop.

A. The Trial Court's Determination that there was no Reasonable Belief to Support a Terry Frisk is Clearly Erroneous, and any Related Extension was Reasonable.

Law enforcement officers may frisk an individual when they have reason to believe the person may be armed and dangerous. *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 27. Reasonableness is determined by the specific reasonable inferences they are able to make in light of the available facts, and their experience. *Id.* In *Terry*, the United States Supreme Court held that officers were allowed to frisk Terry when the surrounding circumstances led them to believe Terry was planning a daylight robbery, and that such a plan could reasonably include the use of weapons. *See Id.* at 28.

In the present case, Judge Dee held that Officer Rogge's frisk of McClain was unreasonable and suppressed the evidence of a suboxone tablet that was recovered during the search:

Now the searches however, they're both out. You can't do a patdown without some reasonable belief that Mr. McClain was being – or armed at the time. There is absolutely nothing in the record that supports that. You can't just start patting people down, which then yielded the suboxone pill so that's out.

R. 71:25 (emphasis added).

While Judge Dee indicated there was no evidence in the record to support reasonable suspicion, the State believes this decision was in error. During the motion hearing, Exhibit One was entered into evidence. (R. 35; R. 39:17; R. 96). During the hearing, the State played Exhibit One from time stamp 2:59:44 until 3:05:07. During this portion of video, Officer Rogge asked Danny McClain if there were any weapons on his person, and McClain responded that he had a knife on him. (Squad video footage at 3:01:48-3:02:06). Officer Rogge then asked Danny McClain if he had any issue with him "search[ing] and recover[ing] it," and Mr. McClain responded, "no." (Squad video footage at 3:02:06-3:02:011). McClain's admission of there being a potentially dangerous weapon on his person is sufficient information for Officer Rogge to briefly frisk and

summarily recover the knife in Danny McClain's pocket under *Terry*. Even if it was not, Danny McClain's consent to the frisk further rendered Officer Rogge's actions as reasonable.

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